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OPINION 

ORDER 

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court upon
Defendants' Motions to Dismiss (Dkts. 15, 16) and
Plaintiff's Response in Opposition (Dkt. 24). Upon
review, the Court concludes that Defendants' motions
should be granted in part and denied in part.

BACKGROUND 

In this lawsuit, Plaintiff Grow Financial Federal
Credit Union ("Grow Financial") is suing its competitor,
Defendant GTE Federal Credit Union d/b/a GTE
Financial, and Grow Financial's former employee Erica
Pierson Holliday, who is now employed by GTE
Financial. Grow Financial alleges that Holliday, while
still employed by Grow Financial, sent Grow Financial's
[*2]  trade secrets and confidential/proprietary
information to GTE Financial.

Grow Financial alleges the following claims against
Holliday: the Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Act
("CFAA") (Count I); the Florida Computer Abuse and
Data Recovery Act ("CADRA") (Count II); and common
law breach of duty of loyalty (Count VIII). Grow
Financial alleges the following claims against both
Defendants: misappropriation of trade secrets under the
Federal Defendant Trade Secrets Act ("DTSA") (Count
III) and the Florida Uniform Trade Secrets Act
("FUTSA") (Count IV); tortious interference with
advantageous business relationships (Count V);
conversion (Count VI); common law unfair competition
(Count VII), and civil conspiracy (Count IX).

Holliday and GTE Financial now move to dismiss
all of the claims for failure to state a claim under Rule
12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. As
explained below, the Court grants the motions to the
extent that it dismisses the claims against Holliday under
the CFAA and the CADRA. The Court also dismisses the
claim of tortious interference with advantageous business
relationships based on Grow Financial's withdrawal of
this claim.

LEGAL STANDARD 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) allows a
court to dismiss a complaint when it fails to state a claim
[*3]  upon which relief can be granted. When reviewing
a motion to dismiss, a court must accept all factual
allegations contained in the complaint as true. See
Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94, 127 S. Ct. 2197, 167
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L. Ed. 2d 1081 (2007) (internal citation omitted). It must
also construe those factual allegations in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff. See Hunt v. Aimco Properties,
L.P., 814 F.3d 1213, 1221 (11th Cir. 2016) (internal
citation omitted).

To withstand a motion to dismiss, the complaint
must include "enough facts to state a claim to relief that
is plausible on its face." Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550
U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007).
A claim has facial plausibility "when the plaintiff pleads
factual content that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the
misconduct alleged." Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662,
678, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009).
Pleadings that offer only "labels and conclusions," or a
"formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of
action," will not do. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.

DISCUSSION 

I. CFAA 

The CFAA provides a cause of action for the
improper access to protected computers. See 18 U.S.C.
§1030, et. seq. As it relates to this case, the statute
provides that "[w]hoever - (2) intentionally accesses a
computer without authorization or exceeds authorized
access, and thereby obtains" information from a
protected computer is subject to liability. Id. at
1030(a)(2). Holliday argues that Grow Financial does not
allege any facts demonstrating that she [*4]  exceeded
her authorized access. The Court agrees.

The term, "exceeds authorized access" is defined in
the CFAA as "access to a computer with authorization
and to use such access to obtain or alter information in
the computer that the accesser is not entitled to obtain or
alter." Id. at 1030(e)(6). Here, Grow Financial alleges
that access to the subject information was necessary for
Holliday to perform her job duties. Grow Financial
contends that Holliday improperly used or disclosed the
information that she accessed when she provided it to
GTE Financial while she was still employed at Grow
Financial. But, as this Court has previously held, an
improper use of data is not tantamount to exceeding
authorization under the CFAA. See Maintenx Mgmt., Inc.
v. Lenkowski, No. 8:14-cv-2440-T-30MAP, 2015 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 8499, 2015 WL 310543, *2-*3 (M.D. Fla.
Jan. 25, 2015) ("The facts put forth by Maintenx support
the notion that Lenkowski misused data he obtained from
Maintenx's computers, not that he somehow exceeded his
seemingly unfettered access.").

Although this Court's prior holding in Lenkowski is
not addressed in the parties' briefs, Lenkowski is
consistent with the majority view in this circuit that
applies a narrow definition of "exceeds authorized
access." See Enhanced Recovery Co., LLC v. Frady, No.

3:13-cv-1262-J-34JBT, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41652,
2015 WL 1470852, *5-*7 (Mar. 31, 2015) [*5]  (listing
cases). As the court explained in Enhanced Recovery,
"[q]uite simply, without authorization means exactly that:
the employee was not granted access by his employer.
Similarly, exceeds authorized access simply means that,
while an employee's initial access was permitted, the
employee accessed information for which the employer
had not provided permission." Id.

The Court sees no reason to depart from its
reasoning in Lenkowski or from the majority view.
Notably, if the Court were to apply the CFAA to an
employee like Holliday, who allegedly divulged trade
secrets that she was actually permitted to access, or who
violated computer usage policies, the Court would be
taking the CFAA beyond "its original purpose of
targeting computer hackers." Enhanced Recovery, 2015
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41652, 2015 WL 1470852 at *8
(citations omitted). Under this broad interpretation, the
CFAA would be potentially violated each time an
employee accessed an employer's "confidential"
information for an improper purpose. The Court will not
construe the statute in this broad manner.

Although the Court believes that amendment of the
CFAA claim would most likely be futile, the Court will
permit Grow Financial to amend this claim [*6]  if it can
allege facts that demonstrate that Holliday accessed
information without Grow Financial's permission. The
analysis focuses on Grow Financial's actions, rather than
the subjective motivation of Holliday, because whether
an employee exceeded her authorized access turns on
what information the employer permitted that employee
to access. See Allied Portables, LLC v. Youmans, No.
2:15-cv-294-FtM-38CM, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77055,
2015 WL 3720107, *5 (M.D. Fla. June 15, 2015)
(discussing same).

II. CADRA 

Like its federal counterpart, the purpose of the
Florida Computer Abuse and Data Recovery Act is to
safeguard computer systems against unauthorized access.
See Fla. Stat. § 668.801. Under section 668.803(1), it is
a violation for a person to "knowingly and with intent to
cause harm or loss" "[o]btain[] information from a
protected computer without authorization." "Without
authorization" is defined as "access to a protected
computer by a person who: (a) Is not an authorized user;
(b) Has stolen a technological access barrier of an
authorized user; or (c) Circumvents a technological
access barrier on a protected computer without the
express or implied permission of the owner, operator, or
lessee of the computer or the express or implied
permission of the owner of information stored in the
protected [*7]  computer." Fla. Stat. § 668.802(9)(a)-(c).
The statute also defines the term "authorized user" as
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including an "employee . . . of the owner, operator, or
lessee of the protected computer . . . if the . . . employee .
. . is given express permission by the owner, operator, or
lessee of the protected computer . . . to access the
protected computer through a technological access
barrier." Fla. Stat. § 668.802(1).

Applying these definitions, Grow Financial has
failed to allege that Holliday accessed its computer
system without authorization. The allegations do not
state that Holliday was not an authorized user, had stolen
a technological barrier of an authorized user, or
otherwise circumvented a technological barrier of Grow
Financial's computer system. Accordingly, the Court
dismisses this claim. Much like the CFAA claim, the
Court believes that amending this claim would be futile.
However, the Court will permit Grow Financial to amend
this claim if it can plead the necessary facts to establish
that Holliday was without authorization when she
accessed its computer system.

III. Federal and State Trade Secret Misappropriation 

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction over the Federal
Defend Trade Secrets Act 

The FDTSA vests federal courts with original [*8] 
jurisdiction to decide civil cases involving
misappropriation of trade secrets as long as "the trade
secret is related to a product or service used in, or
intended for use in, interstate or foreign commerce." 18
U.S.C. § 1836(b)(1). Defendants argue the Court lacks
subject matter jurisdiction over the FDTSA claim
because the complaint does not allege a connection
between the alleged trade secrets and interstate
commerce. The Court disagrees.

The complaint alleges that Grow Financial is "a
federally chartered credit union" that is "subject to the
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 and the National
Credit Union Administration's rules and regulations for
privacy and confidentiality." (Dkt. 1 ¶10). Grow
Financial "provides various financial products and
services to its members, such as savings and checking
accounts, mortgages, vehicle loans, credit cards, money
management services, etc." and uses the trade secrets at
issue "in connection with the provision of its products
and services in interstate U.S. commerce." Id. at ¶¶7, 51.
This is sufficient at this stage to establish a nexus
between the trade secrets that were allegedly
misappropriated and interstate commerce.

B. Whether the Trade Secret Claims Are Sufficiently
[*9]  Pled 

"In a trade secret action, the plaintiff bears the
burden of demonstrating both that the specific
information it seeks to protect is secret and that it has
taken reasonable steps to protect this secrecy." Am. Red

Cross v. Palm Beach Blood Bank, Inc., 143 F.3d 1407,
1410 (11th Cir. 1998).

Holliday argues that Grow Financial has not pled
sufficient facts to state a cause of action for trade secret
misappropriation under federal and Florida law.
Holliday's motion reads like a summary judgment motion
and largely focuses on whether the information at issue
constituted a trade secret, which is typically a question of
fact. At this stage, there are numerous allegations about
the secret nature of the information and the steps Grow
Financial took to protect the information. For example,
the complaint alleges Grow Financial's ownership of the
trade secrets and then describes them in detail as Grow
Financial's "list of members, its operating policies and
procedures, . . . customized reports and documents -
some created in-house, others commissioned through
third parties . . ., lending strategy materials and internal
procedures relating to the manner in which Grow
Financial processes loan applications, financial analysis,
and market research." (Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 8-9, 51, 63).

The [*10]  complaint also alleges that Grow
Financial took reasonable steps to protect the secrecy of
its trade secrets and then goes into detail about its
computer system's secure programming, testing, auditing,
and on-going education of its employees about the
sensitive nature of the trade secrets. The complaint
alleges that employees are required to acknowledge
annually, in writing, their duty to safeguard the
information.

The complaint alleges that Holliday surreptitiously
disclosed various proprietary Grow Financial documents
to GTE Financial by first emailing them from her
company email account to her personal account and then
forwarding them from her personal account to GTE
Financial. Moreover, Holliday emailed or printed out
dozens of reports and other documents, many of which
contained confidential and/or proprietary Grow Financial
information and copied the trade secrets without Grow
Financial's consent or authorization. The complaint
includes a specific example of a proprietary "Dealer
Scorecard" that Holliday provided to GTE Financial,
which Holliday and GTE Financial then used and
continue to use.

In sum, at this stage, Grow Financial has alleged
sufficient facts to plausibly state [*11]  a cause of action
under the DTSA and the FUTSA. Accordingly, the Court
will not dismiss Counts III and IV of the complaint.

IV. The Conversion and Unfair Competition Claims 

A. Preemption 

Both defendants argue that Grow Financial's
conversion claim is preempted by the FUTSA and GTE
Financial makes the same argument for the unfair
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competition claim. Defendants focus on the specific
language of the FUTSA, which states that the Act
displaces "conflicting tort . . . and other law of this state
providing civil remedies for misappropriation of a trade
secret." Fla. Stat. § 688.008(1). However, as Grow
Financial points out, there has not yet been a
determination in this litigation regarding whether the
information and documents at issue constitute trade
secrets under Florida law. Without this determination,
Grow Financial is permitted to maintain the conversion
and unfair competition claims in the alternative. See
Vacation Club Servs., Inc. v. Rodriguez, No. 6:10-cv-
247-0rl-31GJK, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 39572, 2010 WL
1645129, at *2 (M.D. Fla. April 22, 2010) (denying
defendant's motion to dismiss plaintiff's conversion claim
as preempted by the FUTSA because plaintiff's alleged
"confidential database of its timeshare members" had not
yet been determined to be a trade secret and plaintiff was
"free [*12]  to plead in the alternative.").1

1   For this same reason, Holliday's argument that
the breach of loyalty claim is preempted by the
FUTSA is denied. It is important to note that,
even if the FUTSA claim ultimately prevails, the
breach of loyalty claim may not be preempted if it
relates to separate acts of dishonesty, i.e., acts
other than the misappropriation of Grow
Financial's trade secrets.

B. Whether the Conversion Claim Is Sufficiently Pled 

Both Defendants argue that the conversion claim
fails as a matter of law because Grow Financial still has
copies of the information and documents at issue. The
cases Defendants rely upon are not factually on point.
Florida law recognizes a conversion claim, even if the
rightful owner still has the information, for the wrongful
taking of confidential business information. See Warshall
v. Price, 629 So. 2d 903, 904-05 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)
(concluding that a doctor's use of the plaintiff's
confidential patient list, which denied the plaintiff the
benefit of his property, supported a claim for conversion,
even though the plaintiff still had access to the list); see
also Total Mktg. Techs., Inc. v. Angel Medflight
Worldwide Air Ambulance Servs., LLC, No. 8:10-cv-
2680-T-33TBM, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1829, 2012 WL
33150, at *3-*4 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 6, 2012) (concluding
that the plaintiff alleged facts sufficient to establish the
elements of conversion by alleging the wrongful taking
of confidential business information). Accordingly,
Defendants' motions are denied with respect to this
claim.

V. Civil Conspiracy 

"A civil conspiracy requires: (a) an agreement

between two or more parties, (b) to do an unlawful act or
to do a lawful act by unlawful means, [*13]  (c) the doing
of some overt act in pursuance of the conspiracy, and (d)
damage to plaintiff as a result of the acts done under the
conspiracy." Craig v. Kropp, No. 2:17-CV-180-FTM-
99CM, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88871, 2017 WL 2506386,
at *8 (M.D. Fla. June 9, 2017) (quoting Charles v. Fla.
Foreclosure Placement Ctr., LLC, 988 So. 2d 1157,
1159-60 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008)). Holliday argues that this
claim fails because Grow Financial does not allege
sufficient facts in support of the alleged agreement
between Holliday and GTE Financial to do an unlawful
act. The Court disagrees.

The complaint alleges that GTE Financial, through
its employee and officer James Esner, asked Holliday,
while she was employed at Grow Financial, to search
Grow Financial's computer system and send certain
documents to GTE Financial, knowing that the
documents were proprietary to Grow Financial. Holliday
then provided this information to GTE Financial. This is
sufficient at this stage. Accordingly, the Court will not
dismiss this claim.2

2   Holliday's remaining arguments are without
merit.

It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that:
 

   1. Defendants' Motions to Dismiss
(Dkts. 15, 16) are granted in part and
denied in part as explained herein.

2. Counts I and II of the complaint
are dismissed without prejudice to amend
these claims within fourteen (14) days of
this Order. Count V of the complaint is
dismissed per Plaintiff's withdrawal of
this [*14]  claim.

3. If Plaintiff does not file an
amended complaint by the deadline stated
in paragraph 2 of this Order, Defendants
shall file their answers within fourteen
(14) days of the expiration of that
deadline.

 

DONE and ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on
August 15, 2017.

/s/ James S. Moody, Jr.

JAMES S. MOODY, JR.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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OPINION 

ORDER DENYING COMPULIFE'S MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

THIS CAUSE is before the Court on Compulife's
Motion for Summary Judgment [DE 68]. The Court has
carefully reviewed Compulife's Motion and all pertinent
portions of the record. In addition, the Court held a
hearing on June 28, 2017, and is otherwise fully advised
in the premises. For the reasons set forth below,
Compulife's Motion is DENIED.

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Compulife Software, Inc. ("Compulife")
filed its Amended Complaint [DE 8] against Defendants
Binyomin Rutstein and David Rutstein on May 26, 2016.
In its Amended Complaint, Compulife asserts claims for
direct copyright infringement, contributory copyright
infringement, theft of trade secrets under both federal and
Florida law, violation [*2]  of the Florida Computer
Abuse and Data Recovery Act, and unfair competition
under the Lanham Act, Florida common law, and the
Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act.
Compulife now seeks summary judgment as to all of its
claims. Because the Court concludes that there are
genuine issues of material fact, Compulife's Motion must
be denied.

II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

Summary judgment is appropriate where "the
movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any
material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). The existence of a
factual dispute is not by itself sufficient grounds to defeat
a motion for summary judgment; rather, "the requirement
is that there be no genuine issue of material fact."
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48,
106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986). A dispute is
genuine if "a reasonable trier of fact could return
judgment for the non-moving party." Miccosukee Tribe
of Indians of Fla. v. United States, 516 F.3d 1235, 1243
(11th Cir. 2008) (citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 247-48).
A fact is material if "it would affect the outcome of the
suit under the governing law." Id. (citing Anderson, 477
U.S. at 247-48).

In deciding a summary judgment motion, the Court
views the facts in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party and draws all reasonable inferences in that
party's favor. See Davis v. Williams, 451 F.3d 759, 763
(11th Cir. 2006). The Court does not weigh conflicting
evidence. See Skop v. City of Atlanta, 485 F.3d 1130,
1140 (11th Cir. 2007). Thus, [*3]  upon discovering a
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genuine dispute of material fact, the Court must deny
summary judgment. See id.

III. DISCUSSION 

Essentially, Compulife argues that its evidence
establishes copyright infringement, theft of trade secrets,
and other alleged violations of law by the National
Association of Accredited Insurance Professionals
("NAAIP") and BeyondQuotes as of April 2015.
Compulife further argues that its evidence establishes
that NAAIP and BeyondQuotes are controlled by
Defendants David Rutstein and Binyomin Rutstein. In
support, Compulife has presented evidence that a man
going by the name "David Gordon" and using the email
address "david@naaip.org" was involved with NAAIP
and BeyondQuotes during this time. Compulife has also
presented evidence that David Gordon is an alias used by
Defendant David Rutstein.

Defendants, however, have presented evidence of
the following: Binyomin Rutstein is not and has never
been involved with the operations of NAAIP. See DE 99-
5, Deposition of Binyomin Rutstein at 43:16-25.
Binyomin Rutstein has had no involvement with
BeyondQuotes since 2009. See id. at 119:1-120:5. David
Rutstein transferred control of NAAIP and Beyond
Quotes to Aaron Levy in April of [*4]  2012 and has had
no involvement with either NAAIP or BeyondQuotes
since then. See DE 99-3, Declaration of David Rutstein at
¶ 10; DE 99-4, Deposition of David Rustein at 19:11-
21:11, 24:11-25:16, 29:9-15, 77:22-78:5, 80:3-19, 84:16-
24. The email address david@naaip.org has never
belonged to Binyomin Rutstein. DE 99-5, Deposition of
Binyomin Rutstein at 96:8-97:1. The email address
david@naaip.org belongs to Aaron Levy and, while
David Rutstein had access to that email address in the
past, David Rutstein has not used it since April of 2012.
See DE 99-4, Deposition of David Rustein at 35:14-
41:21, 64:11-65:10. Aaron Levy is a real person. See DE
99-3, Declaration of David Rutstein at ¶ 11. David
Rutstein has never used the name "David Gordon" or any
other alias. See DE 99-4, Deposition of David Rutstein at
52:16-53:8; DE 99-5, Deposition of Binyomin Rutstein at
47:5-7. To the extent David Rutstein ever had access to
Compulife's data, it was through an arrangement with
MBM Life Quotes, LLC and MSCC Corporation, and
David Rutstein was never advised that the data was
coming from a third party. See Defendants' Statement of
Additional Material Facts in Opposition to Plaintiff's
Motion for [*5]  Summary Judgment, DE 99 at ¶¶ 14-18.
Finally, David Rutstein never entered into a licensing
agreement or any agreement restricting use of the data
feed. See DE 99-3, Declaration of David Rutstein at ¶ 9.

As Compulife acknowledged during the hearing,
there is no record evidence of copyright infringement,
theft of trade secrets, or other violation of law linked to

NAAIP or BeyondQuotes prior to April 2012, nor is
there any record evidence of such conduct by David
Rutstein or Binyomin Rutstein personally, rather than
through NAAIP, BeyondQuotes, the email address
david@naaip.org, or any alias. Accordingly, the Court
may grant summary judgment in favor of Compulife only
if the Court determines that Defendants' evidence does
not create a genuine dispute as to the facts set forth
above.

As a general rule, the Court may not weigh
conflicting evidence when considering a motion for
summary judgment. See Skop v. City of Atlanta, 485 F.3d
1130, 1140 (11th Cir. 2007). However, "[w]hen
opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is
blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no
reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not adopt
that version of the facts for ruling on a motion for
summary judgment." Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380,
127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007). "[A party's]
version of events can be [*6]  blatantly contradicted by
videotapes or other overwhelming physical evidence and
testimony." Hall v. Bennett, 447 F. App'x 921, 923 (11th
Cir. 2011); see also Scott, 550 U.S. at 380 (concluding
that summary judgment was appropriate where video
evidence "utterly discredited" the plaintiff's version of
events); Johnson v. Niehus, 491 F. App'x 945 (11th Cir.
2012) (concluding that summary judgment was
appropriate where physical evidence contradicted the
plaintiff's testimony); Kesinger ex rel. Estate of Kesinger
v. Herrington, 381 F.3d 1243, 1249 (11th Cir. 2004)
(concluding that summary judgment was appropriate
where multiple affidavits and photographic evidence
contradicted the testimony of a single eyewitness who
had previously given a different account of events).

Compulife urges the Court to conclude that
Defendants' testimony is blatantly contradicted by
Compulife's evidence. However, Compulife has
presented no video, photographic, or other physical
evidence. Compulife's evidence is limited to affidavits,
deposition testimony, and documentary evidence, none
of which is so overwhelming that a reasonable jury could
not, as a matter of law, credit Defendants' evidence over
Compulife's. Rather, a genuine dispute of material fact
exists, and summary judgment is therefore inappropriate.

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby ORDERED
AND ADJUDGED that Compulife's Motion for
Summary Judgment [*7]  [DE 68] is DENIED.

DONE and ORDERED in Chambers, West Palm
Beach, Florida, this 29th day of June, 2017.

/s/ Robin L. Rosenberg

ROBIN L. ROSENBERG

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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beyondquotes, irreparable injury, life insurance--, trade
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COUNSEL:  [*1] For Compulife Software, Inc.,
Plaintiff: Jerold Ira Schneider, LEAD ATTORNEY,
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Raton, FL.
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OPINION BY: ROBIN L. ROSENBERG

OPINION 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

THIS CAUSE is before the Court on the Motion for
Preliminary Injunction and Memorandum of Law in

Support [DE 5]1 filed by Plaintiff, Compulife Software,
Inc. ("Compulife"). The Court has carefully reviewed
Compulife's Motion and all pertinent portions of the
record. In addition, the Court held an evidentiary hearing
on March 30 and 31, 2017, and is otherwise fully advised
in the premises. The Court now issues this Memorandum
Opinion and Order setting forth its findings of fact and
conclusions of law. For the reasons set forth below,
Compulife's Motion is DENIED.

1   The same filing also contained an Ex Parte
Application for Entry of Temporary Restraining
Order and a Motion for Civil Seizure Order, both
of which were denied on December 8, 2016. See
DE 15.

I. INTRODUCTION 

This [*2]  is an action for misappropriation of trade
secrets and copyright infringement. See DE 1; DE 24.2 In
the Motion presently before the Court, Compulife--a
software company whose products allow insurance
agents and consumers to obtain quotes for term life
insurance--seeks preliminary injunctive relief to prevent
further misappropriation and infringement. See DE 31.3

Having failed to establish that it will suffer irreparable
injury unless the injunction issues, Compulife is not
entitled to preliminary injunctive relief.

2   Compulife's Verified Complaint also contains
a number of additional claims not relevant at this
stage of the proceedings. See DE 1; DE 24.
3   Because certain pages are missing from the
document filed at DE 5, a complete copy of
Compulife's Motion was filed at DE 31.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Court finds that the following facts have been
established by a preponderance of the evidence.
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A. Compulife and Term4Sale 

Robert Barney is the president and majority
shareholder of Compulife. DE 70 ¶ 1; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
17:13-14. Compulife is the creator and manufacturer of
the Compulife Quotation System, a software program
that allows individuals to compare term life insurance
products and rates. DE 70 ¶¶ 3-4; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
17:15-18. Compulife itself does not sell insurance. DE 70
¶ 4; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 17:19-20.

Compulife's software includes both host-based
software residing on a server and web-based software
consisting of HTML code. Hrg. Tr. [*3]  Vol. 1 at 17:21-
18:13. The web-based HTML code allows an individual
to visit a website and enter certain information--such as
age, sex, and amount of insurance desired--in order to
request life insurance quotes. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 18:4-25.
The HTML code then submits that request to the host-
based software, which looks up the rates and product
information for various insurance companies, calculates
premiums, and produces quotes that are ultimately
displayed on the website. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 18:4-19:8.

The purpose of the HTML code is to communicate
with the host-based software. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 27:2-6.
To that end, the HTML code contains specific variable
names and variable values created by Compulife, which
are necessary to communicate effectively with the host-
based software in order to generate quotes. Hrg. Tr. Vol.
1 at 20:23-22:13; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 43:13-44:5.

The server on which the host-based software resides
also houses Compulife's database of digital information
about the term life insurance market, products, and rates.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 27:7-17, 28:4-25. Compulife obtains
this information, including rate tables, from insurance
companies, but does not own this information. [*4]  Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 74:2-9. This information is public and is
provided to other companies offering software that
competes with Compulife's. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 74:5-11;
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 6:13-18.

However, Compulife enters this information into its
software using confidential and proprietary technology.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 28:4-9. Compulife compiles this
information into a database in a confidential manner and
encrypts the database to prevent reverse engineering.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 28:17-25; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 44:6-
45:13. For that reason, Compulife considers the way it
stores its information to be a trade secret. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1
at 74:2-5. The host-based software calculates premiums
and generates quotes by accessing this database of
information residing on the server. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
27:7-13, 30:11-31:4. Mr. Barney believes that
Compulife's quotes are unique due to the manner in
which Compulife stores this information and the
procedures Compulife uses to calculate premiums. Hrg.

Tr. Vol. 2 at 6:19-21.

When an insurance company changes its rates,
Compulife updates the rate tables and other information
within its database. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 28:13-16, 31:5-19.
This information is constantly [*5]  updated to reflect
changes in the term life insurance market. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1
at 40:8-13, 75:21-24. If information is not timely
updated, or if Compulife produces an inaccurate quote
for any other reason, Compulife's customers--most of
whom are insurance agents who use Compulife's
products daily to generate quotes for individual
consumers--immediately contact Compulife to complain.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 76:7-24; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 7:23-8:8.

Compulife has registered its software with the
United States Copyright Office. DE 70 ¶ 10; DE 70-1;
Hrg. Ex. 79. Compulife's "2010 HTML Source Code"
was registered on May 29, 2015 and assigned registration
number TX 8-106-364. DE 70 ¶ 10; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at
42:3-10; Hrg. Ex. 2; Hrg. Ex. 79.

In addition to licensing its software, Compulife
maintains a website at www.term4sale.com
("Term4Sale"). Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 19:9-14. Term4Sale is
a public website that allows visitors to obtain life
insurance quotes at no cost. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 19:14-15.
Term4Sale also provides visitors with a list of insurance
agents, all of whom are Compulife customers, to contact
if the visitors are interested in purchasing life insurance.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 19:16-20. Term4Sale [*6]  generates
life insurance quotes using Compulife's web-based
HTML code, host-based software, and database of
information in the manner described above. Hrg. Tr. Vol.
1 at 19:11-14.

Compulife competes with several companies that
offer life insurance quotes online, including Ninja Quote
(which joined the market in 2016) and Nerd Wallet. Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 74:12-75:7. Like Compulife, these
companies obtain rate tables from life insurance
companies and use them to calculate premiums that
appear on their websites. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 75:8-20.

B. NAAIP and BeyondQuotes 

The National Association of Accredited Insurance
Professionals ("NAAIP") maintains a website at
www.naaip.org. DE 70 ¶ 20; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 32:8-24.
NAAIP offers free websites to life insurance agents. DE
70 ¶ 21. One feature of these websites is NAAIP's "Life
Insurance Quote Engine." Likewise, the website
www.beyondquotes.com ("BeyondQuotes") offers the
Life Insurance Quote Engine. DE 70 ¶ 63. With the Life
Insurance Quote Engine, both the NAAIP websites and
BeyondQuotes--like Term4Sale--allow visitors to enter
certain basic personal information and obtain a list of
quotes for term life insurance policies. DE 70 ¶ 64.

Compulife [*7]  maintains that Defendants Moses



Page 9
2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89674, *

Newman, Aaron Levy, David Rutstein, and Binyomin
Rutstein control or contribute to the operation of both
NAAIP and BeyondQuotes. Because it is not necessary
to the disposition of this Motion, the Court makes no
determination as to Defendants' involvement with
NAAIP and BeyondQuotes.

On April 8, 2015, Mr. Barney discovered that
NAAIP and BeyondQuotes had copied Compulife's
HTML code onto their websites and had accessed
Compulife's database of information. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
32:8-35:13; Hrg. Ex. 70; Hrg. Ex. 71; Hrg. Ex. 73. None
of the Defendants, NAAIP, or BeyondQuotes has ever
had Compulife's permission or authority to access
Compulife's database of information or copy Compulife's
HTML code. DE 70 ¶¶ 60-62; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 38:9-11.
After learning that NAAIP and BeyondQuotes had
accessed Compulife's software and database by using a
Compulife customer's account, Mr. Barney disabled
access, and both the NAAIP and BeyondQuotes websites
ceased producing life insurance quotes by April 10,
2015. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 32:25-33:10, 35:16-39:11; Hrg.
Ex. 13; Hrg. Ex. 14. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Barney sent
an email to David Rutstein demanding that he remove
Compulife's [*8]  HTML code from his websites. Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 38:18-39:1.

Between May and June of 2015, NAAIP and
BeyondQuotes were again able to produce quotes
through an arrangement with one of Compulife's
competitors. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 39:12-17. That
arrangement was terminated and both websites again
ceased producing life insurance quotes in mid-June. Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 39:18-40:3. A few weeks later, the websites
began producing quotes again using Compulife's
software and database of information. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
40:4-7. Monitoring these websites, Mr. Barney observed
that every two or three months between July 2015 and
September 2016, the information on these websites
would become stale, then updated information would
suddenly appear. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 40:14-24.

During this time, on May 23, 2016, Compulife filed
suit against David Rutstein and Binyomin Rutstein. See
Case No. 9:16-cv-80808-RLR, DE 1. Compulife's
Amended Complaint, filed in that case on May 26, 2016,
includes claims for direct copyright infringement,
contributory copyright infringement, federal unfair
competition, federal theft of trade secrets, Florida theft of
trade secrets,  [*9] violation of the Florida Computer
Abuse and Data Recovery Act, Florida common law
unfair competition, and violation of the Florida
Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, all stemming
from NAAIP's alleged actions with respect to
Compulife's software and database of information. See
Case No. 9:16-cv-80808-RLR, DE 8. Compulife did not
seek preliminary injunctive relief in that case. Due to
substantial overlap in the factual allegations and claims

asserted, that case and the instant case have been
consolidated for trial. See DE 44.

C. Get Commands and Scraping 

Between September 1 and September 4, 2016, a
server located in Israel sent over 800,000 get commands
to the host-based software on the Term4Sale server. Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 41:18-21, 43:10-16; Hrg. Ex. 26; Hrg. Ex.
78. At the time, both the NAAIP and BeyondQuotes
websites were hosted on a single server in Israel. DE 9 ¶¶
7-8; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 46:20-47:1, 48:19-22. A get
command is an alternative way to communicate with the
host-based software without going through a website.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 60:2-7. In order to produce the get
commands, portions of Compulife's HTML code were
required--specifically, the correct names for variables
such as the amount of insurance requested--without [*10] 
which the get commands would not have provided
accurate results. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 60:8-61:8, 69:8-20;
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 43:13-44:5; Hrg. Ex. 26. Each get
command was for an individual customer scenario and
resulted in the production of multiple quotes, typically
for 50 different insurance companies. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
50:25-51:7. As a result, the Term4Sale server produced
approximately 43,500,000 insurance quotes in response
to the get commands. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 51:8-13; Hrg. Ex.
26; Hrg. Ex. 78.

These quotes produced by the Term4Sale server
were then "scraped" and inserted into a database in order
to produce insurance quotes on the NAAIP and
BeyondQuotes websites. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 51:16-52:7;
Hrg. Ex. 26. Prior to September 1, 2016, Compulife had
added a digital watermark to its database that serves to
identify the source of information produced by
Compulife software. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 41:4-14.
Compulife's digital watermark appears in quotes
generated on the NAAIP and BeyondQuotes websites
since September 2016. Hrg. Ex. 26.

Mr. Barney learned of the scraping within a week
after it occurred, when he recognized a particular
watermark on one of the NAAIP websites. Hrg. Tr. Vol.
[*11]  2 at 47:6-13. Mr. Barney's investigation into what
had occurred was complete within the week. Hrg. Tr.
Vol. 2 at 47:19-22. Compulife filed the Motion presently
before the Court nearly three months later, on December
2, 2016. See DE 5.

The quotes that NAAIP and BeyondQuotes are
currently producing on their websites using Compulife's
scraped information are now out of date and inaccurate.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 63:6-67:22, 78:6-24. As of the end of
March 2017, the NAAIP and BeyondQuotes websites
were still producing quotes using information from
September 2016, which is now outdated. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1
at 63:6-63:24, 78:6-79:5. In addition, both websites
appear to use information applicable to Florida in order
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to generate quotes for insurance in Montana, where rates
differ significantly due to variations in applicable laws
and regulations. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 64:2-67:22, 81:9-82:6.

Despite the events of September 2016, Compulife
has not turned off the get command. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
68:23-24. Mr. Barney decided not to do so because it
would be very simple for another programmer to get the
same information another way. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 68:24-
69:7. Instead, Mr. Barney has found alternative means
[*12]  to control access: since October 2016, Compulife
has employed a degrade function in its software that
prevents scraping. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 12:2-14:20.
According to Mr. Barney, any further attempts at
scraping would lead to "an unhappy result" with the
degrade function that Compulife has now built into its
engine. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 46:24-47:5. Indeed, Mr.
Barney confidently testified that--while no one could
exclude the possibility that a sophisticated, intelligent
hacker might find another way to access Compulife's
database--the degrade function had been implemented to
"end it all," and he would "hate to be the person to try to
unencrypt [Compulife's] encrypted data files." Hrg. Tr.
Vol. 2 at 47:23-48:11. In addition, while the Term4Sale
website did not include a user agreement at the time of
the scraping, one was added shortly afterward. Hrg. Tr.
Vol. 1 at 72:18-73:2; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 9:4-18.

Prior to September 1, 2016, no information had been
scraped from the Term4Sale server. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
77:21-23. No additional attempts to scrape have been
made since September 2016. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 77:24-
78:1; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 46:16-47:5. The scraping in
September 2016 is the only incident [*13]  of its kind.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 78:2-3.

D. Injury to Compulife 

While the scraping may have resulted in certain
monetary damages, the extent of such damages is
unclear. Mr. Barney testified, without substantiation, that
Compulife has suffered "a variety of harm," including the
cost of measures taken to stop further trade secret
misappropriation and copyright infringement by
Defendants, loss of new business, loss of revenue
stemming from payments for the use of Compulife's
software, and lost traffic at the Term4Sale website. Hrg.
Tr. Vol. 1 at 62:10-63:5. Mr. Barney also testified that
each insurance agent using an NAAIP website is a
potential Compulife customer--that is, a potential source
of revenue (approximately $200 per year) from licensing
Compulife software to that agent. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at
35:21-36:17. In more general terms, Mr. Barney testified
that Compulife's business--which "had been on a general
track record upward"--has "gone downward." Hrg. Tr.
Vol. 2 at 37:4-14. However, Mr. Barney could not testify
to any impact on Compulife's sales as a result of the
scraping. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 27:11-22. In addition, Mr.

Barney testified that he "has not compiled" any
ascertainable monetary [*14]  damages suffered by
Compulife as a result of the scraping. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at
32:9-14.

More broadly, Mr. Barney was unable to identify
any harm caused specifically by the scraping, as opposed
to other alleged trade secret misappropriation and
copyright infringement of which Mr. Barney has been
aware since April 2015, which is the subject of
Compulife's earlier case filed in May 2016 in which no
preliminary injunction was sought. When asked what
damage the scraping caused specifically, Mr. Barney
answered: "I can't break it out as a separate entity. I am
telling you it is all part and parcel of the damage that
your client is causing to my company, and he intends--I
have emails from your client where he threatens me to do
damage." Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 30:19-24.

Compulife has not lost any existing customers to
NAAIP or BeyondQuotes as a result of the scraping. Mr.
Barney testified in general terms that the scraping has
resulted in a loss of new business. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at
62:10-16. Mr. Barney also testified that each insurance
agent using an NAAIP website is a potential Compulife
customer. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 35:21-36:17. However, Mr.
Barney testified that he was not aware of any existing
[*15]  customers who left Compulife for an NAAIP
website as a result of the scraping. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at
19:11-18, 27:11-14, 32:15-17.

It is unclear whether and to what extent Compulife
has suffered harm to its reputation as a result of the
scraping. Mr. Barney testified broadly, without any
substantiation, that Compulife has suffered irreparable
harm to its reputation due to the mere "existence of the
conflict." Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 27:20-28:2. To the extent
that Compulife may indeed have suffered such harm, an
assertion of which the Court is not persuaded, Mr.
Barney himself has certainly contributed to it. For
example, Mr. Barney contacted about 450 insurance
agents using NAAIP websites regarding Defendants'
alleged copyright infringement. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 28:13-
30:1. In addition, Mr. Barney created and maintains a
website at www.davidrutstein.com that describes the
alleged copyright infringement and other details about
"the conflict." Hrg. Tr. Vol. 1 at 79:19-80:13; Hrg. Tr.
Vol. 2 at 28:3-30:17.

III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based on the findings of fact set forth above, the
Court makes the following conclusions of law.

To obtain a preliminary injunction, Compulife must
establish that: (1) it [*16]  has a substantial likelihood of
success on the merits; (2) irreparable injury will be
suffered unless the injunction issues; (3) the threatened
injury to Compulife outweighs whatever damage the
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proposed injunction may cause Defendants; and (4) if
issued, the injunction would not be adverse to the public
interest. See Siegel v. LePore, 234 F.3d 1163, 1176 (11th
Cir. 2000) (citing McDonald's Corp. v. Robertson, 147
F.3d 1301, 1306 (11th Cir. 1998)). "In this Circuit, '[a]
preliminary injunction is an extraordinary and drastic
remedy not to be granted unless the movant clearly
establishe[s] the "burden of persuasion"' as to each of the
four prerequisites." Id. (quoting McDonald's, 147 F.3d at
1306).

In the Motion presently before the Court, Compulife
seeks an injunction requiring Defendants to (1) cease the
use of Compulife's scraped trade secret information; (2)
cease any further attempts to scrape Compulife's
information; and (3) take affirmative action to segregate
the information and any documents indicating how it was
obtained, preserve that information, disclose it to
Compulife, and not destroy it during the pendency of this
case. Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 48:15-50:10. Compulife identifies
its trade secret information as the database or
"compilation of digital information contained within the
Compulife Software concerning the term life insurance
[*17]  market, term life products and term life rates,"
which does not include Compulife's software, but does
include the quotes scraped from the Term4Sale server.
Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 57:4-59:8; DE 31 at 10.

A. Substantial Likelihood of Success on the Merits 

As the Court has already noted, not all of the claims
asserted in Compulife's Verified Complaint are relevant
at this stage of the proceedings. Rather, in the Motion
presently before the Court, Compulife asserts only that
Defendants have violated (1) the Economic Espionage
Act of 1996 as amended by the Defend Trade Secrets Act
of 2016, 18 U.S.C. § 1836(b), and (2) the Copyright Act,
17 U.S.C. § 501. See DE 31 at 18. Thus, at most, only
Compulife's claims for misappropriation of trade secrets
and copyright infringement are relevant here. However,
Compulife's Motion fails to present any legal argument
for the likelihood of success on the merits of its
copyright infringement claim. See DE 30 at 20-21
(presenting legal argument for likelihood of success on
the merits of trade secrets claim only); Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at
50:11-57:2. In addition, in its written submissions,
Compulife failed to dispute Defendants' assertion that
Compulife's Motion is limited to Defendants' alleged
scraping [*18]  of trade secrets. See DE 46 at 1-2; DE 60;
DE 62 at 2; DE 66; Hrg. Tr. Vol. 2 at 50:11-57:2. During
the hearing on Compulife's Motion, Compulife argued
that copyright violation is a necessary part of the
scraping of trade secrets, as the scraping required the use
of portions of Compulife's copyrighted HTML code. Id.
Nevertheless, the Court is not persuaded that the
likelihood of success on the merits of Compulife's
copyright infringement claim is at issue for purposes of
the Motion presently before the Court.

Whether or not Compulife has properly asserted a
substantial likelihood of success on the merits of its
copyright infringement claim in addition to its
misappropriation of trade secrets claim, the Court need
not determine whether Compulife has in fact established
a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of either
claim. As discussed in greater detail below, Compulife
has failed to establish that it will suffer irreparable injury
unless the injunction issues. Accordingly, Compulife is
not entitled to preliminary injunctive relief.

B. Irreparable Injury 

"A showing of irreparable injury is the sine qua non
of injunctive relief." Siegel v. LePore, 234 F.3d 1163,
1176 (11th Cir. 2000) (internal quotations marks
omitted). Thus, "even [*19]  if [Compulife] establish[es]
a likelihood of success on the merits, the absence of a
substantial likelihood of irreparable injury would,
standing alone, make preliminary injunctive relief
improper." Id. While Compulife argues otherwise,
establishing a substantial likelihood of success of the
merits of its copyright infringement claim would not
entitle Compulife to a presumption of irreparable injury.
Rather, Compulife would still be required to demonstrate
that it will suffer irreparable injury unless the injunction
issues. See Peter Letterese & Assocs., Inc. v. World Inst.
Of Scientology Enters., 533 F.3d 1287, 1323 (11th Cir.
2008) (citing eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547
U.S. 388, 391-92, 126 S. Ct. 1837, 164 L. Ed. 2d 641
(2006)); Hoop Culture, Inc. v. GAP Inc., 648 F. App'x
981, 984-85 (11th Cir. 2016); Bollea v. Gawker Media,
LLC, 913 F. Supp. 2d 1325, 1331 (M.D. Fla. 2012);
Home Legend, LLC v. Mannington Mills, Inc., No. 4:12-
CV-237-HLM, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 191937, 2013 WL
12086791, at *14 (N.D. Ga. Apr. 11, 2013). Likewise,
Compulife has not cited, and the Court has not found,
any legal authority for the proposition that Compulife
would be entitled to a presumption of irreparable injury
upon establishing a likelihood of success on the merits of
its misappropriation of trade secrets claim. Cf., e.g.,
Primo Broodstock, Inc. v. Am. Mariculture, Inc., No.
2:17-CV-9-FTM-29CM, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 64886,
2017 WL 1502714, at *11 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 27, 2017)
(concluding that plaintiff had failed to establish
irreparable harm, and denying injunctive relief for that
reason, regardless of whether there had been any
misappropriation of trade secrets); 18 U.S.C. § 1836
(containing no indication that a plaintiff [*20]  is entitled
to presumption of irreparable injury). Even if Compulife
is entitled to a presumption of irreparable injury, the
evidence before the Court is sufficient to rebut such a
presumption.

"To demonstrate irreparable harm, a movant must
show 'that the injury cannot be undone through monetary
remedies.' The irreparable injury claimed 'must be neither
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remote nor speculative, but actual and imminent.'"
Telestrata, LLC v. NetTALK.com, Inc., 126 F. Supp. 3d
1344, 1353 (S.D. Fla. 2015) (quoting Winmark Corp. v.
Brenoby Sports, Inc., 32 F. Supp. 3d 1206, 1223 (S.D.
Fla. 2014)). "The possibility that adequate compensatory
or other corrective relief will be available at a later date,
in the ordinary course of litigation, weighs heavily
against a claim of irreparable harm." Sampson v. Murray,
415 U.S. 61, 90, 94 S. Ct. 937, 39 L. Ed. 2d 166 (1974)
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). To the
extent that Compulife has presented evidence of such
injuries as the cost of measures taken to stop further trade
secret misappropriation and copyright infringement by
Defendants, loss of new business, loss of revenue
stemming from payments for the use of Compulife's
software, lost traffic at the Term4 Sale website, and a
general downturn in business, such injuries may be
undone through monetary remedies and are therefore not
irreparable.

"[T]he loss of customers and goodwill is an
'irreparable' injury." Ferrero v. Associated Materials
Inc., 923 F.2d 1441, 1449 (11th Cir. 1991) (citing
Spiegel v. City of Houston, 636 F.2d 997 (5th Cir.
1981)); see also Arthur J. Gallagher Serv. Co. v. Egan,
514 F. App'x 839, 843 (11th Cir. 2013) (citing [*21] 
Ferrero, 923 F.2d at 1449) ("The loss of longstanding
clients and goodwill is an irreparable injury."). However,
Compulife has presented no evidence that a single
existing customer has been lost to NAAIP or
BeyondQuotes. Instead, Compulife has presented
evidence that it has lost new business, and that each
insurance agent using an NAAIP website is a potential
Compulife customer--that is, a potential source of
revenue (approximately $200 per year) from licensing
Compulife software to that agent. Such injury, again,
may be undone through monetary remedies. To the
extent that there has been any injury to Compulife's
goodwill or reputation, the only evidence of which is Mr.
Barney's vague, unsubstantiated testimony, Mr. Barney
has certainly contributed to it himself through the content
he publishes on www.davidrutstein.com and his contact
with NAAIP agents. See Mercedes-Benz U.S. Int'l, Inc. v.
Cobasys, LLC, 605 F. Supp. 2d 1189, 1207 (N.D. Ala.
2009) (citing BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. v.
MCIMetro Access Transmission Servs., LLC, 425 F.3d
964, 970 (11th Cir. 2005)) (requiring more specific
showing of loss of goodwill and reputation than self-
serving testimony of party seeking injunction).

Furthermore, based on Mr. Barney's testimony that
his customers are very attuned and responsive to
inaccurate quotes, and his testimony that the quotes
produced on the NAAIP and BeyondQuotes websites are
inaccurate and outdated, [*22]  the Court finds it unlikely
that any existing customers will leave Compulife--whose
quotes Mr. Barney testified are generally accurate--for
either NAAIP or BeyondQuotes. Indeed, in light of Mr.

Barney's testimony, the scraped information was likely
stale and producing inaccurate quotes by the time
Compulife filed the Motion presently before the Court.
The continued use of scraped information therefore will
not result in irreparable injury.

"A delay in seeking a preliminary injunction of even
only a few months--though not necessarily fatal--
militates against a finding of irreparable harm." Wreal,
LLC v. Amazon.com, Inc., 840 F.3d 1244, 1248 (11th
Cir. 2016). Mr. Barney discovered the scraping and
concluded his investigation within one or two weeks of
its occurrence, but waited nearly three months before
seeking a preliminary injunction. In addition, Mr. Barney
has been aware of certain alleged misappropriation of
trade secrets and copyright infringement by NAAIP and
BeyondQuotes since April 2015, as a result of which Mr.
Barney filed suit against David Rutstein and Binyomin
Rutstein in May 2016. Compulife did not, however, seek
a preliminary injunction in that case. Importantly,
Compulife has been unable to establish the extent to
which any of its injuries [*23]  are tied to the September
2016 scraping rather than the actions of which Mr.
Barney has been aware since April 2015.

It is unlikely that further scraping or similar activity
will occur in the immediate future. Compulife presented
no evidence that any attempts at scraping occurred before
or since September 2016; rather, the scraping in
September 2016 was the only incident of its kind.
Similarly, there is no evidence of any specific threat of
another type of invasion. Finally, Mr. Barney testified
that it would be very difficult for anyone to scrape or
otherwise obtain Compulife's information going forward
due to the measures he has taken since September 2016.

For all of these reasons, the Court concludes that
Compulife will not suffer irreparable injury in the
absence of an injunction.

C. Balance of Harms and Public Interest 

Because it has failed to establish that irreparable
injury will be suffered unless the injunction issues,
Compulife is not entitled to preliminary injunctive relief.
See Siegel, 234 F.3d at 1176. Accordingly, the Court
need not consider whether the threatened injury to
Compulife outweighs whatever damage the proposed
injunction may cause Defendants, or whether the
injunction would be adverse [*24]  to the public interest.

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby ORDERED
AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff's Motion for
Preliminary Injunction [DE 5] is DENIED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Fort Pierce,
Florida, this 12th day of June, 2017.

/s/ Robin L. Rosenberg
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OPINION 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

This matter is before the Court on ECF No. 3, HP
Inc. and Microsoft Corporation's Motion to Dismiss and
Incorporated Memorandum Brief in Support Thereof.1

The Court ordered Plaintiff to show cause on or before
January 20, 2017, as to why Defendants' motion to
dismiss should not be granted. (ECF No. 4.) Rather than

responding to the Court's order, Plaintiff filed a "Motion
to Correct Information Notice of Appeal," which the
Court construed as a motion for remand and denied.
(ECF Nos. 5 & 6.) Plaintiff then filed "Motion Please
Take Judicial Notice Courtesy response to order to show
cause." (ECF No. 7.) Plaintiff's response, however, failed
to address Defendants' motion to dismiss and instead
requested "40 billion dollars to agree to have this action
heard in federal court." (Id.) As of the date of this Report
and Recommendation, Plaintiff has not filed a response
that actually addresses Defendants' [*2]  motion to
dismiss. The motion is, therefore, ripe for review. For the
reasons explained below, it is recommended that
Defendants' motion to dismiss should be granted.

1   The Complaint also names Bill Gates, Jeff
Gunter, and Gene Fields as Defendants. These
additional Defendants, however, have not been
properly served in this matter "as Microsoft is not
authorized to accept service of process on behalf
of any of the individual Defendants" and there is
no record that Jeff Gunter or Gene Fields are
currently employed by Microsoft. Plaintiff,
however, listed Defendants' addresses as the same
as Microsoft's. (ECF No. 1 at 4.)

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff previously filed a similar pro se complaint
in the Northern District of Florida. See Case No. 3:16-cv-
49-MCR-EMT. In that case, Plaintiff named the same
five defendants, claiming that they are guilty of civil
RICO violations and violations of the ADA and the
Personal Data and Privacy Security Act of 2009. Id.
Plaintiff also asserted claims of "civil felony
harassment," "internet commerce violations," breach of
contract, invasion of privacy, internet piracy, and
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a"violations of many internet information security laws
and regulations." Id. The Magistrate Judge in that case
issued a Report and Recommendation to dismiss the case
without prejudice pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1915(e)(2)(B)(i)-(ii), finding that Plaintiff's claims were
either frivolous or failed to state a claim for which relief
may be granted. Id. Before that Report and
Recommendation was adopted, however, Plaintiff
voluntarily dismissed the case. Id.

Plaintiff then initiated this case on September 19,
2016, by filing a pro se complaint in the Circuit Court in
and for Escambia [*3]  County, Florida. (ECF No. 1-1,
"Compl.") Defendants then filed a notice of removal on
November 8, 2016, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332,
1367, 1441, and 1446. (ECF No. 1.) With the case now
pending in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Florida, Defendants filed their motion to
dismiss. (ECF No. 3.) Defendants move to dismiss the
claims for various pleading deficiencies and Plaintiff's
failure to state a valid cause of action against Defendants.
(Id.)

II. BACKGROUND 

Plaintiff, proceeding pro se, filed a complaint
against Defendants for
 

   harassment, bullying, invading a
computer without permission, civil RICO,
Internet home invasion, Internet bullying,
civil contempt, breach of contract,
intellectual theft, destruction of private
property, civil acts of conspiracy,
intentionally adding viruses on the
Internet and private computers, civil
extortion as well as criminal, personal
degradation of a severely disabled brain
tissue damaged Plaintiff "Your [sic] too
stupid to use Microsoft products," selling
products to purchasers without turning
ownership over to the Plaintiff
(computers, printers and software).

 
(Compl. at 1.) Although Plaintiff lists this multitude of
claims at the beginning of his Complaint, [*4]  he does
not allege facts or law related to any of the claims in the
remainder of the Complaint.

Plaintiff asserts that Defendants regularly invade his
home through his computer without permission, invade
his computer, and erase and steal information from his
computer's hard drive. Plaintiff also states that
Defendants created a false Facebook page, rendered his
computer equipment no longer usable, and held
Plaintiff's information hostage, offering to give it back to
him at a price he cannot afford. (Id. at 3-5.)

Despite all of the allegations listed above, Plaintiff's
complaint purports to bring claims for: (1) RICO
violations, (2) breach of contract, and (3) stalking and
civil felony harassment under Florida law.

Plaintiff first attempts to allege RICO violations,
stating that Defendants sell computers that they put
viruses on and then charge individuals "huge sums of
money" to remove the viruses. Plaintiff says that
Defendants then demand money for software to protect
computers from the viruses they placed on the computer
through their software packages. He also says
Defendants destroyed his printers and hard drives. (Id. at
5-7.)

Plaintiff next alleges that Defendants breached their
contract with Plaintiff. [*5]  Plaintiff asserts that when he
purchased his computer and software, Plaintiff was not
aware that he would not be the owner of it, that his
information was subject to review, that the software
contained a virus, or that Defendants would demand
money to repair the issues created by the virus. Plaintiff
asserts that there was an implied contract when he
purchased his computer and software, which Plaintiff
suggests means that he could assume that he could freely
use the products he purchased. Despite these
assumptions, Plaintiff states that instead he was subject
to continued harassment from Defendants, including a
virus that Plaintiff alleges wiped his hard drive, and that
Defendants refused to restore his software without a
receipt from ten years prior. Plaintiff also includes
allegations about Defendants destroying other computer
products and information on his computer as well as
allegations that Defendants would not purchase their
products and equipment from Plaintiff and have not
delivered his laptop computer under his breach of
contract claim.2 (Id. at 8-15.)

2   Plaintiff also cites various Florida criminal
statutes, which are not applicable in the pending
civil case. (Compl. at 11.)

Lastly, Plaintiff alleges that he has a claim against
Defendants under Florida's law for stalking and civil
felony harassment, citing [*6]  Florida Statute § 784.048.
Plaintiff states that "the actions that the defendants have
taken against he plaintiff have spoken for themself in this
matter." (Id. at 16-17.)

As relief, Plaintiff requests a minimum of
$7,000,000,000.00 and requests that the Court require
Microsoft and Hewlett Packard to pay for the return of
their equipment and software. (Id. at 17.)

III. DISCUSSION 

Defendants request that the Court dismiss Plaintiff's
claims with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (ECF No. 3.) To start,
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Defendants describe the general pleading problems with
Plaintiff's complaint--including Plaintiff's use of largely
vague and conclusory allegations--stating that the
pleading problems alone warrant dismissal. Defendants
highlight that Plaintiff lumped together all of the
Defendants, so the Court cannot determine which
Defendants participated in which acts. See Ambrosia
Coal & Constr. Co. v. Morales, 482 F.3d 1309, 1317
(11th Cir. 2007) ("[W]e concluded that the complaint . . .
was devoid of specific allegations with respect to each
defendant; the plaintiffs lumped together all of the
defendants in their allegations . . . ."). Further,
Defendants assert that Plaintiff's complaint is a
"quintessential 'shotgun' pleading," which the Eleventh
Circuit condemns. Magluta v. Samples, 256 F.3d 1282,
1284 (11th Cir. 2001) ("The complaint is replete with
allegations that 'the defendants' engaged [*7]  in certain
conduct, making no distinction among the . . . defendants
charged . . . .").

Defendants then go on to argue that Plaintiff failed
to state a valid cause of action as to all of his claims
against Defendants. The Court will address each of those
claims below, and for the reasons that follow, the Court
concludes that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim for
which relief may be granted.

For the purposes of the motion to dismiss, a district
court may dismiss a complaint if the facts as pled do not
state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.
Sinaltrainal v Coca-Cola Co., 578 F.3d 1252, 1260 (11th
Cir. 2009) (citing Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S.
Ct. 1937, 1950, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009)). As the
Supreme Court held in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly,
"[f]actual allegations must be enough to raise a right to
relief above the speculative level," and the complaint
"must contain something more . . . than . . . a statement
of facts that merely creates a suspicion [of] a legally
cognizable right of action." 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S. Ct.
1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007). Further, in Ashcroft the
Supreme Court stated that Twombly "expounded the
pleading standard for all civil actions," and conclusory
allegations that "amount to nothing more than a
formulaic recitation of the elements of a constitutional . .
. claim" are "not entitled to be assumed true," and, to
escape dismissal, a [*8]  complaint must allege facts
sufficient to move claims "across the line from
conceivable to plausible." 129 S. Ct. at 1951-53.

A. Plaintiff has failed to state a valid cause of action
for his RICO claims, and thus the claims are due to
be dismissed. 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's attempt at pleading
RICO claims is wholly insufficient. (ECF No. 3 at 6-13.)
The Court agrees.

To establish a RICO violation, Plaintiff must show
"(1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4)

of racketeering activity." Williams v. Mohawk Indus.
Inc., 568 F.3d 1350, 1355 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting
Mohawk I, 411 F.3d 1252, 1256 (11th Cir. 2006)); see 18
U.S.C. § 1962(c). Additionally, Plaintiff must show "the
requisite injury to 'business or property,' and . . . that
such injury was 'by reason of' the substantive RICO
violation." Ray v. Spirit Airlines, Inc., 836 F.3d 1340,
1348 (11th Cir. 2016) (quoting Williams v. Mohawk
Indus., Inc., 465 F.3d 1277, 1282 (11th Cir. 2006)); see
1964(c). "Racketeering activity" is defined to include
specified predicate acts. 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). To prove a
pattern of racketeering activity, "a plaintiff must show at
least two racketeering predicates that are related, and that
they amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal
activity." Am. Dental Assoc. v. Cigna Corp., 605 F.3d
1283, 1290-91 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing H.J. Inc. v. Nw
Bell Tel. Co., 492 U.S. 229, 240, 109 S. Ct. 2893, 106 L.
Ed. 2d 195 (1989)).

Notably, Plaintiff must plead a RICO claim with the
specificity required in Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. Under Rule 9(b), Plaintiff "must allege
(1) the precise statements, documents, or
misrepresentations made; (2) the time, place, and person
responsible for [*9]  the statements; (3) the content and
manner in which these statements misled the Plaintiffs;
and (4) what Defendants gained by the alleged fraud."
Brooks v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Fla., Inc., 116
F.3d 1364, 1380-81 (11th Cir. 1997). For a case with
multiple defendants, the complaint should inform each
defendant of the nature of his participation in the fraud.
Id. at 1381.

Plaintiff's complaint fails to allege all of the
necessary elements of a RICO claim, including any
predicate acts that would rise to the level of the criminal
acts outlined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961 that could constitute
racketeering activity. "[T]o survive a motion to dismiss, a
plaintiff must allege facts sufficient to support each of
the statutory elements" for the predicate acts alleged
against Defendants. Republic of Panama v. BCCI
Holdings (Luxembourg) S.A., 119 F.3d 935, 949 (11th
Cir. 1997). Because Plaintiff failed to identify even a
single specific predicate act or to allege the facts to
support each of the elements of any predicate act
committed by Defendants--and therefore failed to
identify the necessary pattern of racketeering activity--
Plaintiff's RICO claims are due to be dismissed.

Because Plaintiff failed to allege any predicate acts,
it follows that Plaintiff failed to allege that any predicate
act was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's alleged injuries,
another requirement for a RICO claim. A RICO claim is
[*10]  only available for "[a]ny person injured in his
business or property by reason of a violation of section
1962." 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) (emphasis added). The
Eleventh Circuit has held that "a civil RICO claim
requires that plaintiffs plead facts sufficient to give rise
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to a reasonable inference that the claimed racketeering
activity . . . was the but-for and proximate cause of the
plaintiffs' injuries." Ray, 836 F.3d at 1349 (citing
Simpson v. Sanderson Farms, 744 F.3d 702, 712 (11th
Cir. 2014) (emphasis added). Without alleging the
requisite racketeering activity, Plaintiff cannot fulfill the
proximate cause requirement to plead a RICO claim.

Additionally, Plaintiff failed to allege his RICO
claims with the specificity required by Rule 9(b). For
instance, Plaintiff was required to plead "facts with
respect to each defendant's participation." American
Dental, 605 F.3d at 1291 (emphasis added). Lumping the
Defendants together and making vague allegations as to
their collective conduct is woefully insufficient to meet
the heightened pleading standard.

Accordingly, because Plaintiff failed to plead that
any Defendant committed any predicate act, Plaintiff's
RICO claims cannot survive Defendants' motion to
dismiss.

B. Plaintiff has failed to state a valid cause of action
for his breach of contract claim, and thus it is due to
be dismissed. 

Defendants [*11]  next argue that Plaintiff's breach
of contract claim is also wholly insufficient to state a
claim for which relief may be granted. (ECF No. 3 at 13-
16.) The Court agrees.

Under Florida law, a complaint alleging a breach of
contract must allege that the parties executed the
contract, the obligations each party assumed as a result,
and the breach of the contract. Breakers of Fort Walton
Beach Condos., Inc. v. Atl. Beach Mgmt., Inc., 552 So. 2d
274, 275 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1989) (citing Indus. Med.
Publ'g Co. v. Colonial Press of Miami, Inc. 181 So. 2d
19, 20 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1965)). More specifically,
Plaintiff must "adequately" plead each of the following
elements: "(1) a valid contract; (2) a material breach; and
(3) damages." Friedman v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co., 985 So. 2d
56, 58 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2008) (citing J.J. Gumberg
Co. v. Janis Servs., Inc., 847 So. 2d 1048, 1049 (Fla.
Dist. Ct. App. 2003).

Additionally, to prove a valid contract existed under
Florida law, there must be an offer, acceptance, and
consideration. SCG Harbourwood, LLC v. Hanyan, 93
So. 3d 1197, 1200 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012) (citing
Pezold Air Charters v. Phoenix Corp., 192 F.R.D. 721,
725 (M.D. Fla. 2000). "It is well established that a
meeting of the minds of the parties on all essential
elements is a prerequisite to the existence of an
enforceable contract . . . ." Acosta v. Dist. Bd. of Trustees
of Miami-Dade Cmty. Coll., 905 So. 2d 226, 228 (Fla.
Dist. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting Greater N.Y. Corp. v.
Cenvill Miami Beach Corp., 620 So. 2d 1068, 1070 (Fla.
Dist. Ct. App. 1993)).

Plaintiff's breach of contract claim fails to plead
sufficiently the existence of a valid contract. Plaintiff
alleges nothing regarding any offer, acceptance, or
consideration exchanged with Defendants, and he has
provided no factual allegations that would amount to a
"meeting of the minds" between the parties. Rather than
pleading the elements of a valid contract, [*12]  Plaintiff
made the conclusory allegation that there was an implied
contract. However, Plaintiff failed to show the
connection between the alleged implied contract and
Defendants. Instead, he merely alleges various
assumptions he made when purchasing his computer and
again with conclusory allegations simply alleges
Defendants continued harassment. Because Plaintiff has
not shown the existence of a valid, enforceable contract,
Plaintiff cannot show that Defendants breached a
contract. Accordingly, Plaintiff's breach of contract claim
is due to be dismissed.3

3   In Plaintiff's discussion of his breach of
contract claim, he cites various Florida statutes,
including Fla. Stat. §§ 815.01-815.07 and Fla.
Stat. § 668.801. (Compl. at 11.) While Plaintiff
states that these statutes make invading a
computer without permission a criminal violation,
he fails to allege facts sufficient to show
Defendants violated those statutes or to show the
connection between those statutes and Plaintiff's
pending civil case.

C. Plaintiff has failed to state a valid cause of action
for his criminal stalking claim because there is no
private civil cause of action for this claim. 

Lastly, Defendants argue that although Plaintiff
attempts to bring a civil claim for Defendants' alleged
violation of Florida's criminal stalking statute, Florida
Statute § 784.048, Plaintiff does not enjoy a private civil
cause of action for any such alleged violation. (ECF No.
3 at 16-18.) The Court agrees again.

Under Florida law, the violation of a criminal statute
does not create civil liability per se; instead, the statute
"although penal in nature, [must] plainly impose[] a duty
for the benefit of an [*13]  especial class of individuals"
to give rise to civil liability. See, e.g., Lavis Plumbing
Servs., Inc. v. Johnson, 515 So. 2d 296, 298 (Fla. Dist.
Ct. App. 1987) (quoting Rosenberg v. Ryder Leasing,
Inc., 168 So. 2d 678, 680 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1964)). Yet
nothing in Florida Statute § 784.048 evidences that the
statute or its purpose was to provide a private civil cause
of action for damages for a violation of that statute. In
other words, that statute "is a criminal statute and does
not contain any provisions for a civil cause of action."
Kamau v. Slate, No. 4:11cv522-RH/CAS, 2012 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 158213, 2012 WL 5390001, at *8 (N.D. Fla. Oct.
1, 2012) (granting a motion to dismiss a claim because
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"Plaintiffs may not base this civil action on the violation
of § 7[84].048").

Accordingly, regardless of whether Defendants
violated that statute, Plaintiff's claim is due to be
dismissed because he is not entitled to pursue a civil
cause of action for damages based upon a violation of
Florida Statute § 784.048.4

4   To the extent that Plaintiff also pleads "Civil
Felony Harassment," Plaintiff is advised that
there is no such thing as civil felony harassment.
(See Compl. at 15.)

IV. RECOMMENDATION 

In light of the foregoing, it is respectfully

RECOMMENDED that:
 

   HP Inc. and Microsoft Corporation's
Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 3, should be
GRANTED.

 

IN CHAMBERS this 16th day of March 2017.

/s/ Gary R. Jones

GARY R. JONES

United States Magistrate Judge
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OPINION 

ORDER 

THIS CAUSE is before the Court on Defendant's

Motion for Leave to File Counterclaim ("Motion") [ECF
No. 19], filed by Elite Imaging, LLC ("Elite Imaging")
on January 17, 2017. Elite Imaging attached the proposed
Counterclaim ("Counterclaim") [ECF No. 19-1] to its
Motion. Plaintiff Janior Perez ("Plaintiff") filed Plaintiff's
Response . . . ("Response") [ECF No. 20] on January 31,
2017, and Elite Imaging filed its Reply . . . ("Reply")
[ECF No. 22] on February 7, 2017. The Court has
carefully considered the parties' submissions, the record,
and applicable law.

I. Background 

Plaintiff is a former Elite Imaging employee who
alleges that he did not receive overtime wages due him
for having worked over 40 hours per week, in violation
of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. §
201 et seq.. (See Complaint [ECF No. 1] ¶ 1). Plaintiff's
Complaint consists of three counts: Count I for FLSA
Overtime Violation; Count II for Breach of Contract with
respect to non-receipt of 61 hours of paid time [*2]  off;
and Count III for Promissory Estoppel with respect to the
same 61 hours of paid time off. Plaintiff alleges that he
worked overtime approximately 4 hours outside of the
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office for approximately 6 days each week, totaling 24
hours per week, for which he should have been paid at
time and one-half of his regular hourly rate. (See id. ¶
17). Plaintiffs estimation of the amount of unpaid wages
exceeds $137,000. (See Plaintiffs Rule 26(a) Disclosures
[ECF No. 22-3] 6). Plaintiff further alleges that he is
owed $2,379.00 for his earned but unused paid time off.
(See Compl. ¶¶ 27, 32).

Elite Imaging's Motion seeks to assert three state law
counterclaims: Count I for violation of the Florida
Computer Abuse and Data Recovery Act ("CADRA"),
Fla. Stat. § 668.801; Count II for Conversion; and Count
III for Breach of Duty of Loyalty. (See Countercl.). Elite
Imaging's counterclaims stem from allegations that
Plaintiff deleted his entire email file, as well as other files
belonging to Elite Imaging. (See id. ¶ 15). The
purportedly deleted files comprise many gigabytes of
data and tens of thousands of files. (See id. ¶ 16). Elite
Imaging alleges that Plaintiff knew at the time of
removing the files that they "would contain [*3] 
substantial evidence to undermine his claim" for
overtime wages "by revealing that Plaintiff did not, in
fact, perform 24 hours of alleged off the clock work
currently alleged in the Complaint." (See id. ¶ 17). Elite
Imaging has been unable to recover all of the deleted
files. (See id. ¶ 19). Elite Imaging further alleges that
Plaintiff not only deleted files, but that he also
wrongfully retained some of the files, and that those files
have independent financial value to Elite Imaging. (See
id. ¶¶ 21-22). Elite Imaging also "strongly suspects" that
Perez misappropriated Elite Imaging's trade secrets. (See
id. ¶ 24).

Plaintiff opposes Elite Imaging's Motion by
characterizing the proposed counterclaims as an attempt
to "transform this straightforward FLSA case into a
complicated cybertheft matter" and by arguing that the
counterclaims violate the Brennan rule applicable in
FLSA cases. (See Response 1). Plaintiff asks the Court to
exercise its discretion and deny the Motion. (See id.).
Plaintiff argues that the asserted counterclaims do not
involve the hours that he worked or the pay that he
received but rather that they "involve a distinct scenario"
regarding contentions of deleted and [*4] 
misappropriated computer data. (See id. 3). Notably,
Plaintiff indicates that Elite Imaging received the file
containing the 6.4 gigabytes of deleted emails on
December 29, 2016, prior to filing its Motion, and that
the emails have all been exchanged in discovery. (See id.
3-4).

II. Standard 

Under the Federal Rules, "a party may amend its
pleading only with the opposing party's written consent
or the court's leave" once the time has passed for a party
to do so as a matter of course. See Fed. R. Civ. P.

15(a)(2). "The Court should freely give leave when
justice so requires." Id. "In the absence of any apparent
or declared reason--such as undue delay, bad faith or
dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated
failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously
allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue
of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment,
etc.--the leave sought should, as the rules require, be
'freely given.' Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.
Ct. 227, 9 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1962). "[T]he grant or denial of
an opportunity to amend is within the discretion of the
District Court," id., and the district court may deny leave
to amend when such amendment would be futile, such as
when the amended claim would be subject to dismissal.
See Hall v. United Ins. Co. of Am., 367 F.3d 1255, 1263
(11th Cir. 2004) (citations omitted). Even where [*5]  the
addition of counterclaims could prolong the litigation,
"ultimately, allowing the [p]arties to litigate all of the
disputes between them is in the interests of efficiency
and justice." See P & E Constr., LLC v. HDJ Sec., Inc.,
No. 1:16-CV-33 (WLS), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103053,
2016 WL 4191027, at *5 (M.D. Ga. Aug. 5, 2016).

A. Compulsory & Permissive Counterclaims 

"In general, a compulsory counterclaim falls within
the supplemental jurisdiction of federal courts, while a
permissive counterclaim requires an independent
jurisdictional basis." Bautista v. The Disc. Warehouse,
Inc., No. 1:15-CV-24206-KMM, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
33232, 2016 WL 1028358, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 15,
2016) (citing Plant v. Blazer Fin. Servs. of Georgia, 598
F.2d 1357, 1359 (5th Cir. 1979), and 28 U.S.C. §
1367(a)). Here, the three proposed counterclaims do not
fall under federal question jurisdiction, nor does diversity
jurisdiction apply because Plaintiff and Elite Imaging are
both citizens of Florida. Accordingly, this Court only has
jurisdiction over the counterclaims if they are found to be
compulsory. See East-Bibb Twiggs Neighborhood Ass'n
v. Macon Bibb Planning & Zoning Comm'n, 888 F.2d
1576, 1578 (11th Cir. 1989).

The Federal Rules provide that a counterclaim is
compulsory if it "arises out of the transaction or
occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing
party's claim." See Fed. R. Civ. P. 13(a)(1)(A). The
Eleventh Circuit applies the "logical relationship" test to
determine whether a claim is compulsory. See Republic
Health Corp. v. Lifemark Hosps. of Fla., Inc., 755 F.2d
1453, 1455 (11th Cir. 1985). "Under this test, there is a
logical relationship when the same operative facts serve
[*6]  as the basis of both claims or the aggregate core of
facts upon which the claim rests activates additional legal
rights, otherwise dormant, in the defendant." Id. (citation
and internal quotation marks omitted).

B. The Brennan Rule 

The Eleventh Circuit is "hesitant to allow employers
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to assert state-law counterclaims against employees in
FLSA cases." See Pioch v. IBEX Eng'g Servs., Inc., 825
F.3d 1264, 1273 (11th Cir. 2016); see also Leite v.
Tremron, Inc., No. 12-22118-CIV-MORENO, 2012 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 130504, 2012 WL 4049962, at *2 (S.D. Fla.
Sept. 13, 2012) ("In cases where a FLSA claim serves as
the underlying basis for original jurisdiction, this Court
has generally been reluctant to find that additional state
law contract or tort claims form part of the same 'case or
controversy' as the federal claim."). "Accordingly, the
Court has limited its exercise of supplemental
jurisdiction in this context to instances where the state
law counterclaims in some way encompass elements of
the plaintiff's original FLSA claim." Leite, 2012 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 130504, 2012 WL 4049962, at *2. Indeed,
the courts of this circuit are "general[ly] reluctan[t] to
exercise supplemental jurisdiction over counterclaims in
FLSA cases which are premised on agreements that do
not implicate the number of hours worked or payment
received." See Bautista, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33232,
2016 WL 1028358, at *2 (citing other cases declining
jurisdiction).

Additionally, a set-off is inappropriate in FLSA
cases where [*7]  such "set-off will cause the plaintiff's
wages to fall below the statutory minimum, and deprive
the plaintiff of the 'cash in hand' contemplated by the
FLSA." See id. (citing Brennan v. Heard, 491 F.2d 1, 4
(5th Cir. 1974), overruled on other grounds by
McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe Co., 486 U.S. 128, 108 S.
Ct. 1677, 100 L. Ed. 2d 115 (1988)). This Brennan rule,
which comes from the former Fifth Circuit, is grounded
in the principle that "[t]he only economic feud
contemplated by the FLSA involves the employer's
obedience to minimum wage and overtime standard [and
that] [t]o clutter [FLSA] proceedings with the minutiae of
other employer-employee relationships would be
antithetical to the purpose of the Act." Brennan, 491 F.2d
at 4; accord Pioch, 825 F.3d at 1273. Any requested set-
offs to an FLSA claim should not "force the Court to
address the factual circumstances of numerous other
claims unrelated to whether Plaintiff was adequately
compensated according to minimum wage and overtime
standards." See Matthews v. Applied Concepts
Unleashed, Inc., No. 2:11-CV-14347-KMM, 2012 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 107657, 2012 WL 3150265, at *2 (S.D. Fla.
Aug. 1, 2012).

However, "an employer could raise the affirmative
defense of set-off in a case where the employee received
overpayment of wages." See Leite, 2012 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 130504, 2012 WL 4049962, at *3. "In such a case,
the set-off would only reduce the overpayment while still
maintaining the plaintiff's recovery of wages under the
FLSA." Id. Most importantly, "[a]ny setoff that [*8] 
reduces the amount of overtime wages that a plaintiff is
entitled to under the FLSA is therefore inappropriate"
because a proper set-off is only "against an overpayment

or pre-payment of wages." 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
130504, [WL] *4.

III. Discussion 

A. Elite Imaging's Counterclaims Are Not Compulsory 

The Court first finds that Elite Imaging's state law
counterclaims do not meet the "logical relationship" test
and, therefore, are not compulsory counterclaims.
Plaintiff's FLSA claim is very straight-forward: he
alleges that he worked an extra 24 hours of overtime
each week, for which he was not paid. The issues before
the Court in determining the merit of Plaintiff's FLSA
claim will involve evidence and witness testimony as to
those hours allegedly worked. In contrast, Elite Imaging's
claims "are a matter wholly separate from the dispute
over overtime compensation" and would require Elite
Imaging to "present evidence and witness testimony on
facts significantly different." See 2 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
130504, [WL] *3.

Particularly, Elite Imaging claims that it "engaged in
substantial effort, at substantial expense in terms of lost
hours and productivity (in addition to other costs) . . . in
an attempt to recover the [d]eleted [f]iles." (See
Counterclaim ¶ 37). Elite Imaging argues [*9]  that its
"losses include, without limitation, the costs of
investigating Perez's actions, assessing the resulting
damages, restoring the data and information altered
and/or deleted by Perez, as well as the costs associated
with the interruption to Elite Imaging's business." (See
id.). It is true that evidence relating to the emails and
computer files may be used by Elite Imaging to challenge
the merits of Plaintiff's claims for overtime pay under the
FLSA. However, Elite Imaging's counterclaims go far
beyond that by requiring discovery, witnesses, and
experts with respect to issues tangential to Plaintiff's
FLSA claims, including the deletion and recovery of
electronic files and damages. Elite Imaging itself asserts
that its "counterclaim seeks to do no more than recover
damages caused by the loss of Defendant's files, and to
recover damages Defendant incurred and will continue to
incur to try and recover the lost files." (See Reply 3).
Elite Imaging continues that its counterclaims are "no
different than any aggrieved party suing to recover
damages for a tort committed against it." (See id.). These
matters extend beyond the confines of a determination of
overtime wages under the FLSA, [*10]  and Elite
Imaging's assertions here work against its argument that
its counterclaims are compulsory.

Because the Court has determined that the
counterclaims are not compulsory, Elite Imaging should
bring its counterclaims in a forum with proper
jurisdiction. However, there may be an independent basis
for federal court jurisdiction over Elite Imaging's claims,
under the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act ("CFAA"), 18
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U.S.C. § 1030, thus providing an alternative means for
Elite Imaging to assert the claims as permissive
counterclaims. The Eleventh Circuit recently clarified
that damages of the type sought by Elite Imaging, i.e.,
forensic and physical review of computer systems, are
recoverable under the CFAA. See Brown Jordan Intl,
Inc. v. Carmicle, 846 F.3d 1167, 2017 WL 359651, at *5
(11th Cir. 2017). Elite Imaging indicated that it "is
prepared to add this claim if the Court finds it necessary
to do so as an independent basis for maintaining
jurisdiction over the counterclaim." (See Reply 7).
Nevertheless, the Court's following analysis shows why
even a CFAA counterclaim would also be inappropriate
under the Brennan rule.

B. Elite Imaging's Counterclaims Violate the Brennan
Rule 

Elite Imaging's proposed counterclaims are barred
by the Brennan rule, whether the counterclaims are
compulsory or permissive. [*11]  Elite Imaging argues
that "there is no allegation that [Elite Imaging] is seeking
to reduce the cash in hand Plaintiff received in the past,
or which he may receive as minimum wages from the
FLSA claims." (See Reply 3). However, any recovery
under Elite Imaging's counterclaims will necessarily
reduce Plaintiff's FLSA overtime recovery and are
inappropriate. Elite Imaging does not allege that it
overpaid Plaintiff, so any reduction of Plaintiff's FLSA
damages would violate the Brennan rule by reducing
Plaintiff's compensation below the FLSA statutory
minimum. See Leite, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 130504,
2012 WL 4049962, at *4.

Elite Imaging mischaracterizes the Brennan rule
when it argues that "it is nearly impossible for the
damages that [Elite Imaging] may recover on the
counterclaim to reduce Plaintiff's earnings below
minimum wage" because Plaintiff earned "more than five
times the minimum wage" with his salary of $39 per
hour. (See Reply 9). Elite Imaging argues that even if it
"recovered $50,000 on its counterclaim, Plaintiff would
still recover tens of thousands of dollars in excess of the
minimum wages if he prevails on the claim asserted in
the Complaint." (See id). Plaintiff's overtime claims are
premised on time and one-half of his regular [*12] 

hourly rate, (see Compl. ¶ 17), not a statutory minimum
wage one-fifth of Plaintiff's salary. A set-off cannot
reduce the amount of overtime wages due, but can only
be claimed against overpayment or pre-payment of
wages. See Leite, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 130504, 2012
WL 4049962, at *4. Therefore, any recovery under Elite
Imaging's counterclaims would run afoul of the Brennan
rule, which is "to assure to the employees of a covered
company a minimum level of wages," see Brennan, 491
F.2d at 4, and "would delay and interfere with the
process of bringing the employer into compliance with
the FLSA's overtime requirements," see Pioch, 825 F.3d
at 1273-74 (citing Donovan v. Pointon, 717 F.2d 1320,
1323 (10th Cir. 1983)).

IV. Conclusion 

Elite Imaging's proposed counterclaims are not
compulsory, and the Court lacks an independent
jurisdictional basis to permit them as permissive
counterclaims. Additionally, even if Elite Imaging were
to amend its proposed counterclaims to assert a CFAA
federal claim, the counterclaims would still be
disallowed for violation of the Brennan rule. Therefore,
the Court finds that granting Elite Imaging leave to
amend in this case would be futile. See Hall, 367 F.3d at
1263. While it is in the interest of justice and efficiency
to allow the parties to litigate all of their disputes in one
forum, litigation of the counterclaims in the present case
[*13]  "would delay and interfere with the process of
bringing the employer into compliance with the FLSA's
overtime requirements." See Pioch, 825 F.3d at 1273-74
(citation omitted). Accordingly, it is

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion
[ECF No. 19] is DENIED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers, Miami,
Florida, on February 17, 2017.

/s/ Paul C. Huck

Paul C. Huck

United States District Judge


